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W 1 AW

A RASPBERRY-PI BASED 
WEATHER BALLOON 
RADIOSONDE RECEIVING 
STATION (~400MHZ) WAS 
INSTALLED THIS YEAR AT W1AW. 
ONE OF ITS FUNCTIONS IS TO 
UPLOAD WEATHER-BALLOON 
TRANSMISSIONS TO THE APRS 
NETWORK AND SONDEHUB. 
W1AW IS ONE OF JUST TWO 
STATIONS IN CONNECTICUT 
THAT MONITOR WEATHER 
BALLOONS.  

W1AW, the Hiram Percy 
Maxim Memorial Station, is 
the primary operating station 
of ARRL. It remains popular 
with visitors to ARRL’s 
Headquarters, hosting almost 
400 visitors in 2024.  
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ARRL is amateur radio’s proactive advocate and 
representative voice in achieving regulatory 
and legislative success. Through our efforts in 
Washington and on the international stage along 
with the International Amateur Radio Union (IARU), 
ARRL works to ensure that access to the amateur 
radio spectrum remains available and free from 
interference as well as from acquisition by 
commercial interests. ARRL is an active participant 
working with US Government agencies to prepare 

positions and proposals to the Americas Regional 
Telecommunications Organization — the Inter 
American Telecommunication Commission 
(CITEL) — and at the global level, the International 
Telecommunication Union (ITU).

Several WRC-27 agenda items may impact the 
Amateur Radio Service and the Amateur Satellite 
Service. ARRL, working in collaboration with the IARU, 
participates in the relevant ITU-R Working Parties as 
well as the regional (CITEL) preparation of proposals 
that address each agenda item. Leading up to the 
WRC-27, ARRL actively participates in regional 
preparations within the Permanent Consultative 
Committees of the Inter-American Telecommunication 
Commission (CITEL). Regional proposals (Inter-
American Proposals, or IAPs) for each World 
Conference from the America’s Region are crafted 
in CITEL’s Permanent Consultative Committee II: 
Radiocommunications. 

ITU-R Working Party 5A (WP5A) is responsible for 
studies related to the land mobile service (excluding 
IMT) and including wireless access in the fixed service, 
as well as studies related to the Amateur and Amateur 
Satellite Services. WP5A is considered the “home” 
for amateur radio within the ITU. Working Group 
5A-5 is the Amateur and Amateur Satellite Services 
sub-group, Chaired by Mr. Dale Hughes, VK1DSH, on 
the Australian delegation, while ARRL’s Jon Siverling, 
WB3ERA, serves as the alternate Chairman.  

A DVO CACY
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ENSURING SPECTRUM 
ACCESS REMAINS FREE FROM 

INTERFERENCE.

ACTIVE PARTICIPANT WITH US 
AGENCIES, CITEL, AND ITU.

PROTECTING AMATEUR 
SERVICES FROM WIRELESS 

POWER TRANSMISSION.

WRC-27 AGENDA MAY IMPACT 
AMATEUR AND SATELLITE 

SERVICES.

ARRL IS AMATEUR RADIO’S 
PROACTIVE ADVOCATE AND 
REPRESENTATIVE VOICE IN 

ACHIEVING REGULATORY AND 
LEGISLATIVE SUCCESS.

Throughout 2024, ARRL has worked to protect the 
amateur services from any future harmful impact by 
Wireless Power Transmission, whether for electric 
vehicles or for charging of portable/mobile devices. This 
spectrum management work continues within the ITU-R 
Working Party 1A.	

The Conference Preparatory Meeting for WRC-
2027 (CPM 27) set the agenda item for the World 
Radiocommunication Conference 2027 (WRC-27). 
There are several agenda items that may impact the 
amateur radio services. WRC-27 will again consider 
studies on sharing and compatibility and develop 
technical conditions so that additional spectrum may be 
identified for International Mobile Telecommunications 
(IMT). There is also the possibility of a new allocations 

for the Radiolocation Service; lunar communications 
(lunar surface and lunar orbit); and Space Weather, all 
of which may potentially impact the amateur services. 
World Radiocommunication Conference 2031 (WRC-31) has 
issues that also impact amateur radio: new allocations for 
IMT, Earth exploration-satellite service (possibly upgraded 
to a primary allocation) and allocations for Wireless Power 
Transmission (WPT).
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REPORT TO AMERICA

Tornado Outbreak in Central US
Strong storms and reports of at least 60 tornadoes wreaked havoc in the 
central United States for nearly 2 weeks in May. Homes and businesses 
across Nebraska, Oklahoma, Texas, Missouri, and Iowa were destroyed, 
and power was down for more than 30,000 residents. On May 1, 2024, 
then-President Joe Biden declared a major disaster in Oklahoma, 
making federal aid available to those affected by the severe storms.

ARRL Iowa Section Manager Lelia Garner, WAØUIG, reported that 
nine counties were under the Iowa State Individual Assistance 
Grant Program and the Disaster Case Advocacy Program.

“Amateur radio served our local agencies well. We recently 
networked at a central Iowa hamfest and are building our 
emergency communications capacity primarily through 
the Amateur Radio Emergency Service® (ARES®). ARES 
resources [include] personnel, experience, meetings, 
training, [communications] equipment, [and] operating 
trailers. The opportunity to share our experience and 
knowledge gained in the field has been critical to 
supporting ARES in Iowa,” said Garner.

Garner added that awareness is the best tool. She 
stressed that amateur operators and ARES members  
work to help the National Weather Service and other 
served agencies in order make their work and the 
community safer.

Wildfires in California
In summer 2024, California faced devastating wildfires over 
100,000 acres of land, leading to widespread evacuations and 
significant property damage. ARES teams in the affected areas 
worked tirelessly to support firefighting efforts and emergency 
management operations. They established communication links 
between remote fire camps and command centers, enabling real-time 
updates on fire progression and resource allocation. This coordination 
was vital in managing the response and ensuring the safety of residents 
and emergency personnel.

In 2024, amateur radio operators, particularly those involved with the Amateur Radio 
Emergency Service® (ARES®), played a crucial role in supporting emergency response 
efforts during various natural disasters. Their dedication and expertise ensured reliable 
communication when other systems failed, proving once again the indispensable value of 
amateur radio in times of crisis.
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OVER 100,000 
ACRES BURNED 

DURING CALIFORNIA 
WILDFIRES

IN 2024.

“AMATEUR RADIO 
SERVED OUR LOCAL 

AGENCIES WELL.”
– Lelia Garner, WAØUIG, ARRL  

Iowa Section 
Manager

60 TORNADOES 
TORE THROUGH 

THE CENTRAL U.S. 
OVER TWO WEEKS 

IN MAY.
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Hurricane Helene 
When Hurricane Helene struck the eastern seaboard in September, it caused 

over 200 deaths, devasting damage, and widespread power outages, 
especially in hardest-hit North Carolina.   

ARRL Vice Director Bill Morine, N2COP, who lives on the eastern side 
of North Carolina, described the response to this disaster as a truly 

integrated effort including AUXCOMM, the  Federal Emergency 
Management Agency’s (FEMA) training standard, ARES®, and 

the National Traffic System® (NTS®). Even hams not operating 
under one of these three response mechanisms contributed 
by  jumping in to help with communication, relaying exchange 
of supply requests, road closure updates, and personal 
messages. It took weeks to restore regular communication 
due to the mountainous terrain and amateur radio 
was essential during this time.  Using a combination of 
mountaintop repeaters that had robust power backups, HF 
frequencies, and Winlink, ham radio operators put their 
time, talents, and personal gear to good use.  

Hurricane Milton 
Hurricane Milton made landfall on the west coast of 
Florida in October, 2 weeks after Hurricane Helene. It was 
the most intense Atlantic hurricane ever recorded over 

the Gulf of Mexico and the strongest tropical cyclone to 
occur worldwide in 2024. Amateur radio operators played 

a crucial role in Florida during Hurricane Milton, providing 
vital communication links when traditional infrastructure 

failed. The Hurricane Watch Net was activated on specific 
frequencies, and the VoIP Hurricane Net supported operations 

at the National Hurricane Center. Amateur radio operators also 
worked within the state’s emergency operations centers and 

local shelters. Their readiness ensured that, even if traditional 
communication infrastructures failed, vital information could still be 

relayed to emergency services and the public.
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HURRICANE MILTON 
WAS THE STRONGEST 
TROPICAL CYCLONE 

WORLDWIDE IN 2024.

HURRICANE 
HELENE CAUSED 

OVER 200 DEATHS 
AND WIDESPREAD 

OUTAGES.

AMATEUR RADIO 
OPERATORS WERE 

INSTRUMENTAL 
IN MAINTAINING 

COMMUNICATION 
LINES
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F O U N DAT I O N
The success of our programs 
is furthermore due to the 
dedication of our volunteers. 

The ARRL Foundation is governed 
by a nine-member volunteer 
Board of Directors, five of whom 
serve on the ARRL Board of 
Directors. Our Scholarship 
Committee, chaired by Kermit 
Carlson, W9XA, spends countless 
hours reviewing applications, 
interviewing students, and 
reviewing the criteria of the 
scholarships to ensure that 
qualified students are matched 
to appropriate scholarships. Our 
Grants Committee spends many 
hours reading applications to find 
projects to fund that align with 
its mission to advance the art, 
science, and societal benefits of 
amateur radio.  

The 2024 ARRL Foundation 
Board of Directors:

OFFICERS

President
David Norris, K5UZ
Vice President	
David Minster, NA2AA	
Treasurer
Rick Niswander, K7GM
Secretary
Christina Lessard, KC1TDM   

DIRECTORS

Kermit Carlson, W9XA
Tom Frenaye, K1KI
Bill Lippert, ACØW
Ed Snyder, W1YSM
Mark Tharp, KB7HDX
Craig Thompson, K9CT
Art Zygielbaum, KØAIZ
   

It has been a remarkable year for the ARRL Foundation, marked by growth, 
impactful giving, and enhanced support for the amateur radio community. 
Among this year’s most significant accomplishments were the expansion of 
the scholarship program and the launch of the Division Convention Grants 
Program — both contributing to a stronger and more vibrant amateur radio 
community.

The Foundation awarded 126 scholarships to 125 students, totaling 
$709,500, including generous funding from the Amateur Radio Digital 
Communications (ARDC) organization. These scholarships represent a 
continued investment in the future of amateur radio. We are grateful to 
ARDC for its ongoing support, which also enabled a second round of 
the Club Grant Program in 2024. Over the past three years, ARDC has 
contributed more than $2.1 million across scholarship and club grant 
initiatives and has supported educational outreach through the ARRL 
Teachers Institute program. Additionally, ARRL received a substantial estate 
gift from the late Brian J. Baden, KØOAQ, in the amount of approximately 
$2 million to fund future scholarships.

 

In the area of grants, the Foundation awarded 25 ARRL Foundation 
Grants in 2024, totaling $47,434. The Club Grant Program was revived 
with strong interest, receiving 110 applications totaling nearly $1.6 million 
in requests. Ultimately, 37 grants were awarded, totaling $500,502, 
with funds distributed to the clubs in December. In support of regional 
engagement, the Foundation also launched the Division Convention 
Grants Program, awarding $3,000 to HamCon Colorado and $9,250 to 
the Yuma Hamfest. 

Four new scholarships were established in 2024: 

•	 The Harry J. Dannals, W2HD, Memorial Scholarship was endowed 
with $25,000 by Robert F. Dannals, Ph.D., W2GG, in memory 
of his father, Harry, and will award an annual $1,000 scholarship 
beginning in 2025.  
 

•	 The Warren Brown, MD, KD4GUA, Memorial Scholarship will award 
one $500 scholarship beginning in 2025 through 2027. This 
scholarship is sponsored by the Medical Amateur Radio Council 
(MARCO). 

•	 The Steve Marks, W5CIA, Legacy Scholarship was established by 
Steve’s family and will award $1,000 in 2025.   

•	 The Craig, K9CT, and Ilean Thompson Scholarship will be a fully 
endowed scholarship ($30,000) by 2026 and will award a $1,000 
scholarship annually beginning in 2027.
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The ARRL Development Office experienced another 
successful year in 2024, with strong philanthropic 
support totaling more than $2.1 million from 4,298 
unique donors. This impressive total exceeded 
projections by over $900,000, reflecting continued 
donor confidence and enthusiasm for ARRL’s 
mission. Notable growth was seen across several 
key programs, most significantly the Diamond Club, 
which raised over $1 million for the first time. In 
total, ARRL received five estate bequests valued at 
approximately $126,000 and secured 18 new planned 
gift agreements estimated at more than $1.9 million. 

The ARRL Maxim Society honors ARRL donors whose 
cumulative contributions to ARRL reach $10,000. 
To date, there are 391 Maxim Society members 
in this distinguished group. We welcomed 33 new 
members in 2024, and 12 have moved to a higher 
Maxim Society Class, including four to the Ambassador 
Class, 4 to the Benefactor Class, three to the Founder 
Class, and one to the Fellow Class.  A full list of Maxim 
Society members is found later in this report.  

In 2024, ARRL launched naming opportunities within 
its Education and Technology Program. Among these, 
a named Teachers Institute seat was established in 
memory of Hy and Mimi Ginsberg, and another was 

established through a new endowment created 
by former ARRL President Kay Craigie, N3KN, in 
memory of her late husband, Carter Craigie, N3AO. 
These named recognitions honor loved ones while 
supporting ARRL’s educational mission.

Innovative fundraising initiatives also gained traction. 
The second annual YouTube “telethon,” hosted by 
Josh Nass, KI6NAZ, on his channel, “Ham Radio 
Crash Course,” raised over $41,000 for the Teachers 
Institute. A $20,000 challenge gift, inspired by Maxim 
Society member George Allison, K1IG, helped fuel 
this success, reflecting the growing role of digital 
outreach in ARRL’s development strategy.  This event 
also highlights the growing collaboration between 
ARRL and the broader amateur radio content creator 
community.

Additionally, the Development Office led the 2024 
ARRL Club Grants Program in collaboration with Field 
Services. Out of 110 applications from clubs across 40 
states and all ARRL Divisions, 37 clubs were awarded 
grants totaling $500,502. This initiative provided 
critical funding for grassroots amateur radio projects, 
with continued efforts under way to measure the 
resulting impact.

IN 2024, ARRL DONORS 
CONTRIBUTED MORE THAN 

$2.1 MILLION, 
FUELING INNOVATION, 
EDUCATION, AND THE FUTURE OF 

AMATEUR RADIO.

WITH RECORD GROWTH 
ACROSS KEY PROGRAMS AND 

33 NEW MAXIM 
SOCIETY MEMBERS, 
ARRL’S PHILANTHROPIC COMMUNITY 
CONTINUES TO THRIVE.

D E V E LO P M E N T



28

ARRL gratefully acknowledges the following individuals, clubs, and organizations for their generous support in 2024 
with donations of $1,000 or more. Donors listed below contributed to the ARRL Diamond Club, the Second Century 
Campaign, the Spectrum Defense Fund, the Education & Technology Fund, the W1AW Endowment, the Ham Aid 
Fund, and the Legislative Issues Advocacy Fund.

2024 ARRL LEADERSHIP DONORS

Rev. Dr. Alicia, KG6LJ, and
    Dave, K6XG, Abell
Alan R. Ahasic, W9AN
Paul and Brenda Allen
George (K1IG) and
    Annette (KB1LSH) Allison
Louis G. Arnold, K9ALP
Dwight Aussieker, K9QJ
Tony Baker, AA3HD
Donn Baker, WA2VOI
Baker Family Foundation 
    (W5IZ & W5JKB)
Capt. Jerome Baliukas, K7ENH
Sherman Banks, W4ATL, and
    Mary Banks, K4MRY
John L. Barber, N5JB
Bob Barden, MDØCCE
Glen Barney, NY3E
Robert Battagin, WB6ONM
Kenneth Bauer, W9WGQ
Kevin T. Beal, K8EAL
John Beaston, K7TY
Michael Beck, W7EDO
Richard P. Beebe, K1PAD
Dave, W6AQ, and 
    Sam, W6QLT, Bell
Paul Belton, W7VY
Dennis W. Berkheiser, K9HSX
Vernon Berry, NN5E
Douglas Besemer
Mr. Jinofer Kavasji Bhujwala,
    VU2JJJ
William Bird, WB2BWE
Joseph Blaschka, Jr., WA7DJZ
Rod Blocksome, KØDAS
Harry Bluestein, N6TE
Douglas Bodily, KG6UCZ
James Boehner, N2ZZ
Andrew Bonnot, K5QR
Gerry Boudreaux, W5IC
William Boze, N4HB
William Brown, K9LF
Dave Bruse, W4DTR
Mark D. Bryan, KB4IR

James Bruce Burnette, K5PX
Frank Butler, Jr., W4RH
Patrick C. Cain, KØPC
Kermit, W9XA, and 
    Caron, W9QLT Carlson
John Carobine, WB8RFB
Philip Carter, WD8QWR
Donald Chamberlain, W9DC
Joseph Chiu, KK6POK
Stephen Claar, NU1B
Kelley Clond, NT9F
Jay Close, KØGEO
Joseph Cloutier, KC9JAC
Jim Coakley, K7HZ
Adam E. Coffey, N8DDW
Terry Conboy, N6RY
Barry Cook, WØMOG
Jack Cox, KA4OTB
Kay Craigie, N3KN, and
Carter Craigie, N3AO+
Gerald E. Crawford, K7UPJ, and
    Mary Ann Guenther
Dan Dankert, N6PEQ
Robert Dannals, W2GG
Michael Davidson, N5MT
Donald E. Daze, N5DD, and
    Amy R. Daze, KC5DJI
James DeLoach, Jr., WUØI
Philip and Julia DeMuth
Robert DePierre, K8KI
Joseph DeVincentis, Jr., KO8V
Frank, W3LPL, and 
    Phyllis Donovan
Brian “Doc” Dowd, W1DOC
Mickey, AK5Q, and 
    Debbie, KD5EFM, Driver
Bruce Driver, W8JNO
Richard E. DuBroff, W9XW
Timothy J. Duffy, K3LR
Richard Easterday, WA2SBS
Peter Eaton, W5FP
Tim Ellam, VE6SH
Jack L. Espinal, KY4EA
 

Christopher Fahrenbach,
    WB9G
Craig F. Fastenow, KØCF
Jim Fenstermaker, K9JF, and
    Shirley Fenstermaker, W7SAF
Jack J. Ference, W3KX
Joseph Fleagle, WØFY
Robert Fontana, AK3Y
Thomas Fox, WB2BCD
Bruce J. Frahm, KØBJ
Clive A. Frazier, K9FWF
M. Adrienne Free, K3MAF
Gil Frey, Jr., K4JST
Warren R. Fugate, W3WE
Dr. Charles S. Fullgraf, KE4OAR
Paul Gaffney, NM1Z
James C. Garland, W8ZR
Karen Gerharter-Goodman,
    KG6USN
Steve, WD4CFN, and
    Patty Ghertner
Charles Gibbs, Jr., WA6IAH
David Ginsberg, N3BKV
Robert Glorioso, W1IS
John Glover, W2QL
Daniel L. Goelzer, KD3G
Steve Goggans, K7LZJ, and
    Lyndie Goggans, N7PKM
Jeffrey, K3DUA, and 
    Beth Goldman
John Good, W1GS
Charles Gooden, K9LC
Robert Goodwin, III, N4HCI
Kenneth R. Goodwin, K5RG
James Graffy, AE7W
Kevin Grantham, N5KRG
Marty, K2PLF+, and 
    Patricia, N6WHB, Green
Robert Greenheck, KB9ACQ
Alvin Groff, KØVM
Arthur Hadden, WA4CEM
Dr. Timothy D. Hamlin, KE5ICO
Robert Harder, WB8ILI
Bob Hardie, W5UQ

Sierra Harrop, W5DX
Douglas Hart, AA3S
Zachary, NI4K, and 
    Katherine Hartzell
Russell Haskins, KM6EOQ
Margaret Jones-Hayes and
    Edward Hayes, N6XEM
Larry C. Hazelwood, W5NZS
Robert Heider, WØEJO
Conrad Hilton, KO4WQT
John F. Hodapp, WA5TDX
Elizabeth W. Hoffert and
    Fred W. Hoffert, III, NA2U
Matt Holden, KØBBC
Fred Hopengarten, Esq., K1VR
Mark Hopkins, NA4O
Alfred Hovey, Jr., WA9BZW
Paul Husby, WØUC
Bob Inderbitzen, NQ1R, and
    Michael Bower
Thomas Inglin, NR8Z
David M. Jaksa, WØVX, and
    Judith A. Jaksa, WØJJ
Leland James
Edward R. Jansson, WD4DTC
Gregory Jigamian, N6GZJ
La Reintz Johnson, II, WN3Y
Josh Johnston, KE5MHV
Richard Jones, Jr., KJ5QY
Shaun Jones, N9LMS
John Jones, WB8CQV
Charles D. Joseph, N5JED
Frank Kaleyias, KV5FD
Mario L. Karcich, K2ZD
Ian H. Keith, N8IK
Fred, AB1OC, and Anita,
    AB1QB, Kemmerer
Malcolm Keown, W5XX
Kerry Kingham, WA4BQM
Andrew Kirk, WB2C
Scot Klein, KN6IHC
John R. Kludt, K7SYS
Kenneth D. Knudson, N5TY
Jeffrey T. Kopcak, K8JTK
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Jeff, WA2RVT, and 
    Loan, KB2PTN, Kostiuk
Mike Kowalsky, AC8Y
John Kramer
Bernie Krasowski, KD5QHV,
    and Linda Krasowski,     
    KE5BQK
Kyle Krieg, AAØZ
E Peter, W2LL, and 
    Deborah Krulewitch
Mark Kupferschmid, AC9PR
Peeter Lääne, ES5NC
David Larrabee, K1BZ
James R. Latham, AF6AQ
David F. Levy, K3DFL
Bill Lippert, ACØW
John Litz, NZ6Q
Jim Lommen, KC7QY
Ronald K. Long, W8GUS
Joshua Long, W9HT
Gary G. Lopes, WA6MEM
Paul J. Lourd, W1IP
Robert O. Loving, Jr., K9JU
Carl Luetzelschwab, K9LA,        
    and Vicky Luetzelschwab,    
    AE9YL
Joseph Lynch, N6CL
Lee MacDonald
Joe Makeever, W5HS
Paul Mandel, W4PGM
John Marchbanks, Sr.,   
    W4PMM
Kenneth Marron, KM2Z
Gary Martek, W7DO
Peter Mathisen, AK7PM
Kevin Mc Clure, WN9O
Charles P. McConnell, W6DPD
Bruce McIntire, AE4M
Kristen McIntyre, K6WX
Tinsley Meekins, Jr., K3RUQ
Christine Mele, W4SLH
Michael Metroka, WB8BZK
Jim Mezey, Jr., W2KFV
F. Peter Michaelis, N8TR, and
Mary Michaelis, N8DMM
Wayne, N7NG, and 
    Margaret Mills
Andrew Milluzzi, KK4LWR
David Minster, NA2AA
Barry Mitchell, NØKV
Mike Moore, KB6TW
John Moore, WA3BRZ
Jim Morgan, KA2FIQ

William C., N2COP, and   
    Pamela Morine
George Morris, W8RUT
Ned Mountain, WC4X
Kevin Murray, KK9RM
Ray Mustafa, WA2NBG
Edgar Myers, III, ADØWN
Douglas Neller, KC9VFI
Joel Nelson, W9NXM
Fred and Diane Neuman
Martin Newingham, AG3I
Ivan Nordstrand, Jr., AE8IN
Robert, Jr., N3RN, and
    Carol, KA3EEO, Nygren
Larry, W9INE, and Karen Olson
Gerald Ortoli, KE4ZDY
Dan L. Osbourne, W5AFY
William Overstreet, K4AJ
John Owings, K4LSX
Juan Pablo Pagliano, LU6DJX
Tim Palange, NW7TP
Ronald Panetta, WB2WGH
Antonis Papatsaras, AA6PP
Howard B. Patterson, Jr.,   
    W5VY
John T. Patterson, WCØW, and
Leigh Patterson, WCØT
Carl Peck, KN6SZT
David Penrose, K1DHP
Michael Phillips, WB9SIS
John E. Pinkham, K3PER
Stanley Pope, K9MFI
Michael Powell, W1KU
George Power, III, KØGCP
Arthur Priebe, Jr., N5ART
Robert Rader, Jr., WØRTG
Michael Raskin, W4UM, and
    Sherry Raskin, W4SLR
Ed Ratledge, K3CWF
Gary Ratterree, KØNET
Dr. James C. Rautio, AJ3K
Bob Ravenscroft, KE7JZ
Dr. Jerry Redding, KA8Q
Fred J. Regennitter, K4IU, and
    Judy Regennitter, KØUH
Joseph Reisert, Jr., W1JR
Thomas Renegar, K3UE
Raymond P., W4RPR+, and
    Cynthia Richard
Scott Robinson, AG7T
Craig Rockenbauch, WA3TID
Rick Roderick, K5UR, and
    Holly Roderick

Ren P. Roderick, K7JB
James Roop, K9SE
Alfred C. Rousseau, W1FJ
Thomas Rousseau, K7PJT
Stanford H. Rowe, K6VWE
Keith Rutledge, KB1FFS
Michael Ryan, Jr., K1WVO
Jeff Ryan, KØRM
John Sager, WJ7S
Joseph Salvatore, N1DJH
Craig Sande, AE7I
Greg, W4OZK, and
    Sherry, KM4VSW, Sarratt
Mitchel Sayare, NK3H
Randy Schaaf, W9ZR
Thomas M. Schaefer, NY4I,    
    and Beth Whidden
Maurice L. Schietecatte, N4LZ
George Schindler, WBØIIS
Keith Schlottman, KR7RK
Fred Schneider, K9OHE
Steven Schoch, KO6G
Barney, K3LA, and 
    Carol K3LEA, Scholl
Steven Schopp, KD2BS
Carl Schroeder, K9CS
Brian Schroeder, AJ6NT
C. Wayne Schuler, AI9Q
Gretchen Schwartz, K3GNS
Jason John Schwarz, N4JJS
Walter J. Sepaniac, Jr., N5TQ
Paul D. Sergi, Sr., NO8D
Robert Shotwell, WA1KUZ
Galen Shubert, KØKS
Ron, N6GB, and 
    Desiree Skatvold
Betty Lou Skidmore
Bernie Skoch, K5XS
Preston, KD4BC, and 
    Ellen, KA4TRM, Smith
Michael Snyder, KA7IKR
Steven L. Somers, AE6SS, and
    Robin Somers, KJ6ISJ
James Spaulding, WØUO
Peter Stackpole, N1MLE
Daryl, W7TAE, and 
    Samia, N7DCB, Staehle
Rod J. Stafford, W6ROD
Andrew Stewart, KB1OIQ
James Strickland, Jr.,   
    WB4HUX
Robert B. Tabke, N7IP
Stephen Tell, K4TPF

Mark J. Tharp, KB7HDX, and   
    C. Jo Whitney, KA7LJQ
Craig, K9CT, and 
    Ilean Thompson
Ron Tingle, K4ML
Jonathan Titus, KZ1G
Michael Tortorella, W2IY
James Totten, WA8HUB
Joseph Trench, AA3B
Dr. Guy “Bud” Tribble, N6SN
Kent W. Trimble, K9ZTV
James Troup, WA3PTF
Daniel Vadney, KC2YRC
Michael, W8MM+, and
    Margaret Valentine
Michael S. Varga, NR3C
Roger Volk, KØGOB
Warren Volz, KD5YPH
Bob Voss, N4CD
William Waldschmidt, W9WA
Hank Wall, Jr., WØCZE
Joe Walsh, WB6ACU
Robert Walsh, WA8MOA
Solveig A. Walstrom
Mike, W8ZY, and 
    Letha Walters
Michael Ware, NN3I
James Weigand, N9BW
Richard Weiss, N4FKH
Richard Wetherald, NZ8C
Carl Wick, Sr., N3MIM
Douglass Wiles, WF4B
Mary Williams, WM4RY
Stephen C. Williams, WB4ZCP
Tom Williams, WA1MBA
John Williams, K8JW
John Wilson, K3KXJ
Alfred Woollacott III
Phil, AB7RW, and 
    Barbara, AC7UH, Yasson
Michael J. Zak, W1MU
Lee Zalaznik, KI6OY
Stanley Zawrotny, K4SBZ
Thomas K. Zicarelli, KA1IS
Arthur I. Zygielbaum, KØAIZ
10 Anonymous Donors
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The Maxim Society honors individuals, clubs, and organizations whose lifetime contributions to ARRL exceed
$10,000. This distinctive program, named for ARRL founder Hiram Percy Maxim, was created in 2002.

Maxim Society Members have supported ARRL and the ARRL Foundation through their contributions to the ARRL 
Diamond Club, the Second Century Campaign, the Spectrum Defense Fund, the Education & Technology Fund, and 
the W1AW Endowment. Members’ generosity allows ARRL to continue to offer outstanding programs and services, and 
to promote amateur radio across the country and around the world.

MAXIM SOCIETY DONORS

Millenium Class
(Lifetime Giving of
$1,000,000 – $4,999,999)

Michael, W8MM+, and
    Margaret Valentine

Century Class
(Lifetime Giving of
$500,000- $999,999)

David Brandenburg, K5RQ
Kay Craigie, N3KN, and
    Carter Craigie, N3AO+
Paul D. Sergi, NO8D

Fellow Class
(Lifetime Giving of
$250,000-$499,999)

William Bird, WB2BWE
Dayton Amateur Radio
    Association
James C. Garland, W8ZR
Kan Mizoguchi, JA1BK
Robert Rader, WØRTG
Bob Ravenscroft, KE7JZ
Edward Snyder, MD, W1YSM,
    and Rose Snyder

Founder Class
(Lifetime Giving of
$100,000-$249,999)

Dave, W6AQ+, and Sam,
    W6QLT, Bell
Donald E. Daze, N5DD, and
    Amy R. Daze, KC5DJI
Craig Goldman, K2LZQ
Jeffrey, K3DUA, and
    Janis Goldman
Marty, K2PLF+, and
    Patricia, N6WHB, Green
Robert O. Loving, Jr., K9JU
Craig, K9CT, and  
    Ilean Thompson

Steven West, W7SMW, and
    Donna Karam, KC5FTN
Michael J. Zak, W1MU

Benefactor Class
(Lifetime Giving of
$50,000-$99,999)

George (K1IG) and
    Annette (KB1LSH) Allison
Louis G. Arnold, K9ALP
Sherman Banks, W4ATL, and
    Mary Banks, K4MRY
Richard P. Beebe, K1PAD
Frank Butler, W4RH
Ken Byers, K4TEA
Frank, W3LPL, and  
    Phyllis Donovan
Martin S. Ewing, AA6E
Andrew Forsyth, AF3I
Steve Goggans, K7LZJ, and
    Lyndie Goggans, N7PKM
Elliot Gross, KB2TZ
Elizabeth W. Hoffert and
    Fred W. Hoffert, III, NA2U
Thomas J. Hutton, N3ZZ
William Lillie, N6BCT
Ozaukee Radio Club, Inc.
Raymond P., W4RPR+, and
    Cynthia Richard
Rick Roderick, K5UR, and     
    Holly Roderick
Thomas M. Schaefer, NY4I,   
    and Beth Whidden
Walton Stinson, WØCP, and
    Mary Kay Stinson, KØZV
Bob Streeter, W8ST, and
    Donna Streeter, W9DJS
Dave Topp, W5BXX
Michael Tortorella, W2IY
Joe Walsh, WB6ACU
West Allis Radio Amateur    
     Club, Inc.
Richard S. Wujciak, K2RW

Carl Young, K5HK
Lee Zalaznik, KI6OY
Arthur I. Zygielbaum, KØAIZ
3 Anonymous Donors

Ambassador Class
(Lifetime Giving of
$25,000-$49,999)

Dwight Aussieker, K9QJ
Donn Baker, WA2VOI
Baker Family Foundation   
    (W5IZ & W5JKB)
Mark A. Behrens, W4GP
Paul Belton, W7VY
Dennis W. Berkheiser, K9HSX
Brook Byers, K6TKM
Steve W. Chaddick, WA4ZDD
Lee Ciereszko, N4TCW, and
   Emily Wengrovius, WN4ECW
Thomas Clements, K1TC
Joseph Cloutier, KC9JAC
Thomas, N5TC+, and
    Judith, K5JRC, Comstock
Dr. Robert Dannals, W2GG
Mickey, AK5Q, and
    Debbie, KD5EFM, Driver
Timothy J. Duffy, K3LR
Craig F. Fastenow, KØCF
Kenneth A. Fath, N4KF
Presley Foster, W5PD
Warren R. Fugate, W3WE
Dr. Charles S. Fullgraf,   
    KE4OAR
Robert Greenheck, KB9ACQ
Conrad Hilton, KO4WQT
Mary Holt, KC8OIP
Paul R. Horenstein, K2PH
George R. Isely, W9GIG
Frank S. Kaleyias, KV5FD
Dr. John Karickhoff, AA4JJ
Ian H. Keith, N8IK
Nels Knutzen, WØPEC
Bill Lippert, ACØW

Joel R. Miller, W7PDX, and
    Martha C. Miller
Thomas K. Mills, K3TK
Ray Mustafa, WA2NBG
Fred and Diane Neuman
North Fulton Amateur
    Radio League
Gayle Olson, K6GO, and
Mike Binder, NA6MB
Joseph Osburn, Jr., W4CFA
Col. (Retired) Dino Papas, KLØS, 
    and Lt. Col. Toby Papas, KLØSS
Ray Pautz, NØRP+, and
    Katie Pautz, WØKTE
Ulrich L. Rohde, Ph.D., N1UL
Alfred C. Rousseau, W1FJ
Maurice L. Schietecatte, N4LZ
C. Wayne Schuler, AI9Q
Edmund O. Schweitzer, III,
    W7KOW
Kamal “Kam” Sirageldin, N3KS
Jimmy R. Sorrells, MD,   
    WA9ABB+
Daryl, W7TAE, and Samia,
    N7DCB, Staehle
St. Paul Radio Club, KØAGF
Stratford Amateur Radio Club
Roger A. Strauch, KD6UO
    (ex-WA1KZW)
Ron Tingle, K4ML
W. Paul Trouten, W8PI
Scott Tuthill, K7ZO
Bob Voss, N4CD
Gary Wagner, K3OMI
Solveig A. Walstrom
Dick Weber, K5IU
John Williams, K8JW
Thomas K. Zicarelli, KA1IS
Ivan Zuckerman, WB4LXR
2 Anonymous Donors
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President Class
(Lifetime Giving of
$10,000-$24,999)

Rev. Dr. Alicia, KG6LJ, and
    Dave, K6XG, Abell
Alan R. Ahasic, W9AN
Dwayne Allen, WY7FD, and
    Katie Allen, WY7YL
Dave Anderson, K4SV
Merit R. Arnold, W6NQ+
Gary Audiss, N6SI
Donald J. Backys, K9UQN
RoseMarie Bagioni, N1DSP,    
    and Thomas Brooks, KE1R
Capt. Jerome Baliukas,    
    K7ENH
John L. Barber, N5JB
Bob Barden, MDØCCE
Don Barner, K8GV
Glen Barney, NY3E
Bill Barr, N4NX
Norman, WA8COB, and
    Shannon Bash
Richard Battles, WB4BYQ
John Beaston, K7TY
Bob Beaudet, W1YRC
Michael Beck, W7EDO
Jay Bellows, KØQB, and
    Bonnie Bellows
Douglas Besemer, KØVPL
Rod Blocksome, KØDAS
Gerry Boudreaux, W5IC
Ralph Bowen, N5RZ
Karl F. Bowman, W4CHX
Barrie G. Britton, W6DX, and
    Linda Britton, N6OGW
Brian E. Broggie, W6FVI
William G. Brown, K9LF
Dave Bruse, W4DTR
Mark D. Bryan, KB4IR
Randall J. Bynum, NR6CA
Byron “Pat” Cahill, WØBM
Patrick C. Cain, KØPC
Kermit, W9XA, and Caron,
    W9QLT, 
Carlson Central Arizona DX    
    Association
Donald Chamberlain, W9DC
J. Craig Clark, Jr., K1QX
Jay Close, KØGEO
Adam E. Coffey, N8DDW
Kenneth A. Cowin, KD2HHT
Gerald E. Crawford, K7UPJ,   
    and Mary Ann Guenther

Mark J. Croney, W4ZF
David A. Daley, AC2BA, and
Rhonda J. Daley, AC2FX
Patrick Darby, K5PAT
William J. Deegan, III, K9XT
Robert DePierre, K8KI
Richard Dievendorff, K6KR
Brian “Doc” Dowd, W1DOC
Bruce Driver, W8JNO
Joe Dubeck, NA9A
Daniel J. Dubray, NS5G+
Richard E. DuBroff, W9XW
Tim Ellam, VE6SH
James Elliott, K6FUI
Edward Erickson, W2CVW+
Jack L. Espinal, KY4EA
Frank Fallon, N2FF
Alan J. Feldmeier, NØXP
Jim Fenstermaker, K9JF, and
    Shirley Fenstermaker,    
    W7SAF
Gary J. Ferdinand, W2CS
Jack. J. Ference, W3KX
Joseph E. Fleagle, WØFY
Sean Fleming, K8KHZ
Bruce J. Frahm, KØBJ
Joseph E. Frank, W1SOV
M. Adrienne Free, K3MAF
Tom Frenaye, K1KI
Dr. Gil Frey, Jr., WA7ONE
Ken Garg, W3JK
Max George, NG7M
F. Clark Gesswein, N4CG
David Ginsberg, N3BKV
Robert Glorioso, W1IS
John Glover, W2QL
Daniel L. Goelzer, KD3G
John Good, W1GS
Kenneth R. Goodwin, K5RG
Bob, W2CYK, and Jesse,
    W2EEO, Greenberg
David H. Greenhut, N6HD
Gwinnett Amateur Radio
    Society
David A. Hall, N7JEI
Jay Hamann, WØYUK
Dinette Hamilton, KD4BJS,   
    and Hollice J. Hamilton,   
    KB4AZR+
Dick and Kathie Hanson,
    K5AND
Joel Harrison, W5ZN, and
    Kim Harrison
Margaret Jones-Hayes and
Edward Hayes, N6XEM

Hans J. Heimburger, N6TCZ
Bill Hider, N3RR
William E. Himwich, K3PN
John F. Hodapp, WA5TDX
Edward F. Hogan, KE1LV
Fred Hopengarten, Esq., K1VR
Mark Hopkins, NA4O
Mark Hubelbank, K1NFD
Ed B. Hudgens, WB4RHQ
William Hudzik, W2UDT
Walter R. Huebner, KDØBDO
Paul Husby, WØUC
David M. Jaksa, WØVX, and
    Judith A. Jaksa, WØJJ
Edward R. Jansson, WD4DTC
William L. Johnson, W3FI
Glenn, WØGJ, and 
    Vivien, KL7YL, Johnson
Charles D. Joseph, N5JED
Leslie P. Kalmus, W2LK
Dick Kalt, W1FYI
John C. Kanode, N4MM
Steven Katz, N8WL, and
  Constance Barsky, WD8ODC
Joseph S. Kennedy, WQ6Q
Andrew Kirk, WB2C
John R. Kludt, K7SYS
Kenneth D. Knudson, N5TY
Jeffrey T. Kopcak, K8JTK
Jeff, WA2RVT, and 
    Loan, KB2PTN, Kostiuk
Bernie Krasowski, KD5QHV,
    and Linda Krasowski,  
    KE5BQK
L. Kirk Kridner, KV5Q
E Peter, W2LL, and
Deborah Krulewitch
Martti J. Laine, OH2BH
Wesley Lamboley, W3WL
James R. Latham, AF6AQ
David F. Levy, K3DFL
Joe Locascio, K5KT, and
    Marian Locascio, K5KKT
Bob Locher, W9KNI
Ronald K. Long, W8GUS
Gary G. Lopes, WA6MEM
Paul J. Lourd, W1IP
Ron Lowrance, K4SX
Carl Luetzelschwab, K9LA, 
    and Vicky Luetzelschwab,  
    AE9YL
Joe Makeever, W5HS
Bruce Marcus, N1XG
Robinson Markel, W2IVS
Ron, W7GTF, and 

    MaryLou McCollum
Ronald McCombs, WA7ONE
Charles P. McConnell, W6DPD
J. Daniel McCranie, AA6GG
Kristen McIntyre, K6WX
Gene McPherson, NØMHJ
Christine Mele, W4SLH
Michael Metroka, WB8BZK
Wayne, N7NG, and 
    Margaret Mills
David Minster, NA2AA
Dennis Moore, K7UMH
John Moore, WA3BRZ
William C., N2COP, and
    Pamela Morine
William Mueller, AA5WM
Warren W. Munro, KH6WM
Northern California DX
    Foundation, Inc.
Robert, Jr., N3RN, and
    Carol, KA3EEO, Nygren
Larry, W9INE, and 
    Karen Olson
Orlando Amateur Radio Club
Gerald Ortoli, KE4ZDY
Dan L. Osbourne, W5AFY
William Overstreet, K4AJ
Edward Parish, K1EP
Howard B. Patterson, Jr.,    
    W5VY
John T. Patterson, WCØW, and
    Leigh Patterson, WCØT
Kurt Pauer, W6PH
Anthony Perales, AI1U
PHD Amateur Radio
    Association, Inc.
Michael Phillips, WB9SIS
John E. Pinkham, K3PER
Thomas W. Porter, W8KYZ
Scott D. Prather, N7NB
Arthur Priebe, N5ART
Michael Raskin, W4UM, and
Sherry Raskin, W4SLR
Mark Ratajack, K7MTR
Ed Ratledge, K3CWF
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Dr. James C. Rautio, AJ3K
Dr. Jerry Redding, KA8Q
Fred J. Regennitter, K4IU, and
    Judy Regennitter, KØUH
Joseph Reisert, W1JR
Bruce Richardson, W9FZ, and
    Jancie Hoettels, KA9VVQ
Gary Rickheim, WØARW
John Ritter, K7VGF
John Mark Robertson, K5JMR
Ed Robinson, W5XT
Kimberly A. Roden, W5KAR,
    and James M. Roden, K5JR
Ren P. Roderick, K7JB
Thomas Carlton Rogers, II
Evan P. Rolek, K9SQG
James Roop, K9SE
Jerry Rosalius, WB9Z, and
    Valerie Hotzfeld, NV9L
Stanford H. Rowe, K6VWE
F. Douglas Rue, W2EN
Joseph Salvatore, N1DJH
Dave Sarault, N3XF
Eric Scace, K3NA
Keith Schlottman, KR7RK
Fred Schneider, K9OHE
Steven Schoch, KO6G
Barney, K3LA, and Carol,

    K3LEA, Scholl
Peter Schumacher, AE7C
Gretchen N. Schwartz, K3GNS
Jason John Schwarz, N4JJS
Howard J. Schweitzer, II,
    AB3GH
Mark W. Scott, K4MV, and
Catherine Scott, KA5DZW
Paul V. Seamon, Jr., N2RI
Claudia and Edward (KD5M)
    Seeliger
Walter J. Sepaniac, N5TQ
John R. Shepherd, AD6NR
James Shurts, WØNO
Six Meter Club of Chicago, Inc.
Timothy B. Slay, N4IB
Steven L. Somers, AE6SS, and
    Robin Somers, KJ6ISJ
James L. Spencer, WØSR
Rod J. Stafford, W6ROD
David Sumner, K1ZZ, and
    Linda Churma Sumner,
    KA1ZD
Jim Talens, N3JT
Rick Tavan, N6XI
Jonathan Taylor, K1RFD
Temple ARC Inc., W5LM

Mark J. Tharp, KB7HDX, and
    C. Jo Whitney, KA7LJQ
J. S. Jamie Tolbert, Jr., WW3S
Dr. Guy “Bud” Tribble, N6SN
Kent W. Trimble, K9ZTV
John Uhl, W5ZE
Arnold G. van der Valk, AG3V,
    and Suzanne C. van der Valk,
    NDØD
Vienna Wireless Society, Inc.
David Walker, KØCOP
Hank Wall, WØCZE
Tom Walsh, K1TW
Dan White, W5DNT
Rihard Wiklund, MD, K1MGH
Tom Williams, WA1MBA
Mark E. Wise, NØGEH
E. Glenn Wolf, Jr., N5RN
Walter L. Wooten, W1LW
Scott Wright, KØMD
Brian Wruble, W3BW
James Clair Wyant, W7AH, and
    Tammy Orr, W7CYL
YASME Foundation
John C. York, MD, KE5V
Allen Zimmerman, K3WGR
19 Anonymous Donors

MAXIM SOCIETY DONORS
President Class Continued

From left to right: ARRL CEO David Minster, NA2AA; Margaret Valentine, Michael Valentine, W8MM (SK), and ARRL President Rick Roderick, 
K5UR, at the ARRL Donor Recognition Reception at Dayton, OH in May 2023 when the Valentines were presented with the Inaugural Mary 
Hobart, K1MMH, Medal of Distinction. 

I N  M E M O R I A M 
ARRL Philanthropist, Radar Detector Pioneer, Michael Valentine, 
W8MM, Silent Key
 
Michael “Mike” D. Valentine, W8MM, of Cincinnati, Ohio, passed 
away on Monday, September 16, 2024. He was 74. Mike and his 
wife of 51 years, Margaret “Peg” K. Valentine, have been the most 
generous individual supporters of ARRL.  

To read more about Mike, please visit https://www.arrl.org/news/
arrl-philanthropist-radar-detector-pioneer-michael-valentine-w8mm-
silent-key.
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The ARRL Legacy Circle recognizes individuals who have provided for ARRL in their wills or other estate plans. Gifts 
received in this capacity — unless otherwise designated — provide unrestricted revenue to be used wherever resources 
are most needed, either through the ARRL Endowment or to assist in offsetting operational costs.

LEGACY CIRCLE MEMBERS

John, W5JON, and 
    Catherine, W5HAM,    
    Abbruscato
Rev. Dr. Alicia, KG6LJ, 
    and Dave, K6XG, Abell
Robert Ahmann, W7SC
Robert Antoniuk, N2SU
Alan Applegate, KØBG
Zachary Bakker, K2ZDB
Andrew Barbour, AG4XN
Bob Barden, MDØCCE
Robert C. Beach, W8LCZ
Michael Beck, W7EDO
Mark Beckwith, N5OT, 
    and Kathryn Stewart
Bob Beebe, GU4YOX/KX6N
Steven Bense, W9SRB
Jim Boockholdt, N4AL
Alvin C. Borne, W6IVO
S. Clint Bradford, K6LCS
James Bruce Burnette, K5PX
George Byrkit, K9TRV,
    and Mary Byrkit
William Carrigan, Jr., N1FJZ
Kenneth R. Cary, K9UCX
David, KEØOG, and 
    Loretta, KBØVWW, Casler
Roberta Chamalian, WB1ADL,
    and Peter Chamalian, W1RM
J. Craig Clark, Jr., K1QX
Gerald E. Crawford, K7UPJ, 
    and Mary Ann Guenther
Jose R. Cruz, KA2KCR
Edward Dana, W1TEZ
Jonathan D. Daniels, K4ETC,
    and Jessica Daniels

John De Primo, K1JD
Richard Dievendorff, K6KR
Mickey, AK5Q, and
    Debbie, KD5EFM, Driver
John Egger, K3GHH
Ronald D. Erickson, KØIC
Jim Fenstermaker, K9JF, and
    Shirley Fenstermaker, W7SAF
Carl First, N6CKV
Bruce J. Frahm, KØBJ
Clive A. Frazier, K9FWF
James M. Galm, W8WTS
Bill Gerhold, III, K2WH
Asuna Gilfoyle, W2FUR
Steve Goggans, K7LZJ, and
    Lyndie Goggans, N7PKM
Itice Goldthorpe, K4LVV
Stephen Greenbaum, WB2KDG
Elliot Gross, KB2TZ
Sierra Harrop, W5DX
Douglas Hilton, WDØUG+, and
    Diane Hilton, WD1ANE
Thomas H. Hodgson, W3DNN
Elizabeth W. Hoffert and Fred
    W. Hoffert, III, NA2U
Geoffry S. Howard, WØCG
J. C. Jackson, Jr., WB4ABY
Glenn, WØGJ, and Vivien,
    KL7YL, Johnson
Frandy Johnson, N1FJ
John C. Kanode, N4MM
Mario L. Karcich, K2ZD
Robert Kares, K3SUH
Steven Katz, N8WL, and
    Constance Barsky, WD8ODC
John Kennon, N7CQQ

David L. Kersten, N8AUH
Randall K. Kirschman, K6HEP
James Kleis, WB4WGH
Ethel M. Kramer
Aman Kumar, N5QQQ
Mark Kupferschmid, AC9PR
Edward Lapinski, KV1P
Charles Laufman, K2JLD
Rick Lindquist, WW1ME
Joe Locascio, K5KT, and 
    Marian Locascio, K5KKT
Joshua Long, W9HT
Paul J. Lourd, W1IP
William Marx, W2CQ
Ron, W7GTF, and 
    MaryLou McCollum
Kristen McIntyre, K6WX
Gene McPherson, NØMHJ
Gary A. Mikitin, AF8A
Joel R. Miller, W7PDX, and
    Martha C. Miller
George J. Molnar, KF2T
Richard Mondro, K4FQT
Theodore A. Morris, NC8V
Thomas H. Nail, WA2BCK
David A. Norris, K5UZ
Art Pahr, K9XJ
Col. (Retired) Dino Papas,
    KLØS, and Lt. Col. Toby
    Papas, KLØSS
Benjamin Patton, N4AXE
Ernest Paul, KC2WD
Aaron Pollack, K2RP
Ernest Porter, N4JOQ
John Putnam, W1DRG
Lawrence Quinn, W1LDQ

Michael Raskin, W4UM, and
    Sherry Raskin, W4SLR
John P. Rautenstrauch, N2MTG
Bavi Reese, II, W3WKP
Alfred C. Rousseau, W1FJ
Stanford H. Rowe, K6VWE
Barney, K3LA, and 
    Carol, K3LEA, Scholl
Rev. Les Shattuck, K4NK
Arnold Shatz, N6HC
Clarence Shmitka, K6AQI
Charles F. Spetnagel, W6KK
Wayne Starnes, KU4V, and
    Catherine Starnes
Walton Stinson, WØCP, and
    Mary Kay Stinson, KØZV
Norbert Suchanek, WE5Z
John Thomas, AE3M
John J. Thornton, W6RR, and
    Jane M. Thornton, K6HDX
Hal Turley, W8HC
Bob Vallio, W6RGG
James Ward, W6AAJ
Robert Wareham, NØESQ
Johnny Welch, KE6K
Steven West, W7SMW, and
    Donna Karam, KC5FTN
Dan White, W5DNT
Tom Whiteside, N5TW
Allen Zimmerman, K3WGR
10 Anonymous Donors
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A R R L  B OA R D  O F  D I R E C TO R S
JA N UA RY  2 0 2 4

Top Row
Phil McBride, VA3QR
Art Zygielbaum, KØAIZ
Anthony Marcin, W7XM
Brent Walls, N9BA
Tom Frenaye, K1KI
Dave Propper, K2DP
Fred Kemmerer, AB1OC
David Siddall, K3ZJ
Bill Morine, N2COP
Carl Luetzelschwab, K9LA
Phil Temples, K9HI
Marty Pittinger, KB3MXM
Richard Norton, N6AA

Second From Top 
Roy Hook, W8REH
Mark J. Tharp, KB7HDX
Ed Wilson, N2XDD
Dan Grady, N2SRK
Mickey Baker, N4MB
Lynn Nelson, WØND
Tim Ellam, VE6SH
John Robert Stratton, 
N5AUS

Third From Top
Bob Vallio, W6RGG
Mike Raisbeck, K1TWF
Nomar Vizcarrondo, NP4H
Bill Lippert, ACØW
Scott Yonally, N8SY
Jeff Ryan, KØRM
Jim Boehner, N2ZZ
David Norris, K5UZ
Bob Famiglio, K3RF
 

Bottom Row
Mike Ritz, W7VO
Rod Stafford, W6ROD
Kristen McIntyre, K6WX
Rick Roderick, K5UR
David Minster, NA2AA
Diane Middleton, W2DLM
John Sager, WJ7S
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ARRL OFFICERS

ARRL DIVISION DIRECTORS 
AND VICE DIRECTORS

PRESIDENT

1ST VICE PRESIDENT

2ND VICE PRESIDENT

TREASURER

INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRS VP

FAMIGLIO, BOB

LUETZELSCHWAB, CARL

LIPPERT, BILL

NORRIS, DAVID

YONALLY, SCOTT

VIZCARRONDO, NOMAR

ZYGIELBAUM, ART

KEMMERER, FRED

THARP, MARK

MARCIN, ANTHONY

BOEHNER, JIM

RYAN, JEFF

BAKER, MICKEY

NORTON, RICHARD

STRATTON, JOHN

K3RF

K9LA

ACØW

K5UZ

N8SY

NP4H

KØAIZ

AB1OC

KB7HDX

W7XM

N2ZZ

KØRM

N4MB

N6AA

N5AUS

PITTINGER, MARTY

WALLS, BRENT

NELSON, LYNN

HUDGENS, ED

HOOK, ROY

WILSON, ED

PROPPER, DAVE

TEMPLES, PHIL

 

 

MORINE, BILL

GRADY, DAN

BEALS, JEFF

STERNS, NED

COOPER, LEE

KB3MXM

N9BA

WØND

WB4RHQ

W8REH

N2XDD

K2DP

K9HI

 

 

N2COP

N2SRK

WA4AW

AA7A

W5LHC

RICK RODERICK

KRISTEN MCINTYRE 

MIKE RITZ

JOHN SAGER

ROD STAFFORD

K5UR

K6WX

W7VO

WJ7S

W6ROD

ATLANTIC

CENTRAL

DAKOTA

DELTA

GREAT LAKES

HUDSON

MIDWEST

NEW ENGLAND

NORTHWESTERN

PACIFIC

ROANOKE

ROCKY MOUNTAIN

SOUTHEASTERN

SOUTHWESTERN

WEST GULF
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
The Board of Directors made the difficult decision 
to raise dues and separate print magazines from 
membership beginning in 2024.  While any dues 
increase causes a decrease in membership, the 
decision allowed ARRL to have an income from 
operations of $458,000 in 2024 versus the deficit 
spending from operations of $1.4 million in 2023.  
Combined with the unrealized gains of $2 million in 
the investment portfolio, the organization’s net assets 
increased $2.5 million in 2024. 

ARRL ended the year with 137,114 members. In 
comparison to last year, dues revenue remained 
relatively flat at $6.8 million and continued to be the 
largest revenue source for the organization at 43% 
of the total operational revenue for the year.

ARRL publications and product sales rose to $3.8 
million, an increase of 18% compared to the prior 
year. The growth was largely contributed to increased 
sales of licensing publications.  This trend was also 
reflected in the increased licensing exam revenue.

The continuing decline in the number of businesses 
in the amateur radio industry had a direct impact on 
ARRL’s revenue generated from advertising. In 2024, 
the total advertising revenue across ARRL platforms 
dropped by 21% to $1.1 million. This decrease in 
revenue is indicative of a larger trend of businesses 
contracting within the industry and larger advertisers 
reducing their advertising footprint beyond their own 
websites. 

Interest, dividends, and realized gains contributed 
approximately $1.3 million to ARRL revenues for the 
year. This was considerably higher than in 2023 due 
to higher interest and dividends rates along with a 
greater investment portfolio balance. 

Revenue from license examination activities 
contributed $333,000 in revenue to the organization, 
13% greater than in 2023. Both new licenses and 
upgrade licenses volume increased over 2023, 23% 
and 12% respectively. Program and service fees 
contributed $450,000 in revenue during 2024, a 
decrease of 34% from the prior year.  While some of 
this decrease may have been due to systems being 
down during the cyber-attack recovery, prior to the 
cyber-attack program fee revenues were already 
showing a decline over the previous year.  

Dedicated members continued to be vital to the 
ongoing success of the organization through their 
thoughtful contributions — both with and without 
donor restrictions. In 2024, their generosity totaled 
over $2 million. 

Expenses in 2024 decreased by $1.1 million, 7% 
lower than the prior year, which was primarily a result 
of lower printing and forwarding costs for QST and 
OTA.  Total expenditures across the organization stood 
at $15.46 million, down from $16.55 million in 2023.

THE DECISION ALLOWED 
ARRL TO HAVE AN INCOME 
FROM OPERATIONS OF 
$458,000 IN 2024 
VERSUS THE DEFICIT SPENDING 

FROM OPERATIONS OF 
$1.4 MILLION IN 2023.
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At the end of 2024, the organization’s total assets stood 
at $43.7 million, up from $41.1 million at the end of 2023. 
Included in the assets were cash and investments totaling 
approximately $39.8 million at year end compared to 
$37.3 million at the end of 2023. The investment portfolio 
supports the various funds with and without restrictions in 

addition to the long-term liability represented by the Life 
Member program. Net assets increased to $28.1 million as 
of December 31, 2024, up from $25.6 million a year earlier. 
The increase was the result of unrealized market growth 
in ARRL’s investment portfolio. The funds in the ARRL 
portfolio are invested with a long-term strategy designed 
to ride the highs and lows of the market. Leveraging 
investment growth has become increasingly important as 
a revenue stream in covering operational expenses on a 
regular basis.

As the average age of ARRL’s demographic increases, 
the organization must rely on investment earnings and 
donations to support its operations including its youth 
advocacy.  As membership grows with the next generation, 
programs and services will also have to adapt to meet 
their needs as well as continue a full array of benefits and 
services that our members have come to expect.

NET ASSETS INCREASED TO 
$28.1 MILLION AS OF 
DECEMBER 31, 2024

ARRL PUBLICATIONS AND 
PRODUCT SALES ROSE 18% IN 

2024 — DRIVEN BY GROWTH IN 
LICENSING MATERIALS.

MEMBERS CONTINUED 
TO BE VITAL TO THE 

ONGOING SUCCESS OF THE 
ORGANIZATION. IN 2024, THEIR 

GENEROSITY TOTALED OVER 
$2 MILLION.

EXPENSES DROPPED 7% IN 2024, 
REFLECTING LOWER PRINTING 
AND FORWARDING COSTS FOR 

QST AND ON THE AIR.

AT THE END OF 2024, 
TOTAL ASSETS STOOD AT 

$43.7 MILLION, 
UP FROM $41.1 MILLION 
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I N D E P E N D E N T  AU D I TO R’ S  R E P O RT
CohnReznick LLP
cohnreznick.com

To the Board of Directors 
The American Radio Relay League, Incorporated 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of The American Radio Relay League, Incorporated, which comprise 
the statements of financial position as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the related statements of activities, 
functional expenses, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of The American Radio Relay League, Incorporated as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and the 
changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America (“GAAS”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be 
independent of The American Radio Relay League, Incorporated and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, 
in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about The American Radio Relay League, 
Incorporated’s ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date that the financial statements are 
available to be issued. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when 
it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually 
or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial 
statements.
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In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:

•	 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of The American Radio Relay League, Incorporated’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed. 

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

•	 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise 
substantial doubt about The American Radio Relay League, Incorporated’s ability to continue as a going 
concern for a reasonable period of time. 
 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters 
that we identified during the audits.

Supplementary Information

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole.
The schedules of restricted funds for time and purpose summary are presented for purposes of additional
analysis and are not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audits of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing
and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare
the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion,
the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole.

Hartford, Connecticut
October 30, 2025
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The American Radio Relay League, Incorporated 

Statements of Financial Position 
December 31, 2024 and 2023 

2024 2023

Current assets
Cash 1,245,325$        1,606,539$        
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for credit losses
of $66,015 and $33,800, respectively 339,406             222,607
Inventories, net 788,748             600,377
Contributions receivable, current 25,000               179,713         
Other receivables 91,509 73,660
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 399,698             398,279

Total current assets 2,889,686          3,081,175      

Other assets
Investments 38,520,566        35,686,517
Long-term contributions receivable, net of discount and 
allowance of $114,235 and $180,742, respectively 125,765             149,258
Land, building and equipment, net 1,815,486          2,084,792
Intangible assets, net 223,611             -
Operating lease right-of-use assets 77,621               131,242         

Total other assets 40,763,049        38,051,809    

Total assets 43,652,735$      41,132,984$      

Assets
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The American Radio Relay League, Incorporated 

Statements of Financial Position 
December 31, 2024 and 2023 

See Notes to Financial Statements. 

2024 2023

Current liabilities
Accounts payable 347,940$           258,781$           
Accrued liabilities 848,225             765,503
Deferred revenue 620,908             394,752

Subtotal operational current liabilities 1,817,073          1,419,036      

Deferred life membership dues, current 598,029             622,383
Deferred term membership dues, current 2,914,316          3,150,261
Current maturities of operating lease liabilities 53,621 53,623           

Total current liabilities 5,383,039          5,245,303      

Long-term liabilities
Deferred life membership dues, less current portion 9,195,681          9,047,609
Deferred term membership dues, less current portion 955,493             1,196,711
Operating lease liabilities, less current maturities 24,000 77,619           

Total long-term liabilities 10,175,174        10,321,939    

Total liabilities 15,558,213        15,567,242    

Commitments

Net assets
Without donor restrictions

Undesignated 9,749,112          8,114,524      
Board designated 9,784,616 9,274,293

Total without donor restrictions 19,533,728 17,388,817
With donor restrictions 8,560,794          8,176,925      

Total net assets 28,094,522        25,565,742    

Total liabilities and net assets 43,652,735$      41,132,984$      

Liabilities and Net Assets
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The American Radio Relay League, Incorporated 

Statement of Activities 
Year Ended December 31, 2024 

See Notes to Financial Statements. 

Without donor With donor
restrictions restrictions Total

Revenues and contributions
Membership dues 6,783,200$        -$ 6,783,200$        
Net publication sales 3,759,435    - 3,759,435 
Advertising 1,122,986    - 1,122,986 
Investment income 989,596       335,052             1,324,648 
Examination fees and other 333,010       - 333,010 
Program and service fees 450,110       - 450,110 
Contributions and support 1,231,126    738,736             1,969,862 
Other income 172,353       - 172,353 
Net assets released 
from restrictions 1,057,623    (1,057,623)        -

15,899,439  16,165 15,915,604        

Expenditures
Programs and services 8,702,428    - 8,702,428 
Publications 2,779,802    - 2,779,802 
Administration 3,378,161    - 3,378,161 
Fundraising 597,325       - 597,325 

15,457,716  - 15,457,716 

Increase in net assets
before other income (expense) 441,723       16,165 457,888             

Other income (expense)
Bequests, Board designated
functioning as an endowment 57,000         - 57,000 
Second Century Campaign
endowment contributions - 22,811 22,811 
Unrealized gain on investments 1,646,188    344,893 1,991,081          

1,703,188    367,704             2,070,892          

Change in net assets 2,144,911    383,869             2,528,780          

Net assets, beginning 17,388,817  8,176,925          25,565,742        

Net assets, end 19,533,728$      8,560,794$        28,094,522$      
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The American Radio Relay League, Incorporated 

Statement of Activities 
Year Ended December 31, 2023 

See Notes to Financial Statements. 

Without donor With donor
restrictions restrictions Total

Revenues and contributions
Membership dues 6,868,272$        -$  6,868,272$        
Net publication sales 3,194,109 - 3,194,109
Advertising 1,418,314 - 1,418,314
Investment income 664,397 226,176             890,573
Examination fees and other 293,835 - 293,835
Program and service fees 677,510 - 677,510
Contributions and support 1,135,282 538,535             1,673,817
Other income 158,465 - 158,465
Net assets released 
from restrictions 914,164             (914,164)            - 

15,324,348        (149,453)            15,174,895        

Expenditures
Programs and services 9,328,021          - 9,328,021
Publications 3,172,920          - 3,172,920
Administration 3,509,189          - 3,509,189
Fundraising 539,775             - 539,775

16,549,905        - 16,549,905

Decrease in net assets
before other income (1,225,557)         (149,453)            (1,375,010)         

Other income
Bequests, Board designated
functioning as an endowment 545,252             - 545,252
Second Century Campaign
endowment contributions - 17,497 17,497
Unrealized gain on investments 2,642,519          554,849 3,197,368          

3,187,771          572,346             3,760,117          

Change in net assets 1,962,214          422,893             2,385,107          

Net assets, beginning 15,426,603        7,754,032          23,180,635        

Net assets, end 17,388,817$      8,176,925$        25,565,742$      
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The American Radio Relay League, Incorporated 

Statements of Cash Flows 
Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 

See Notes to Financial Statements. 

2024 2023

Cash flows from operating activities
Change in net assets 2,528,780$      2,385,107$     
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net 
cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Receipts to establish or increase perpetual endowment funds (146,987)    (63,608)    
Depreciation 406,073   393,081    
Amortization of operating lease asset 53,621  53,241   
Amortization of intangible asset 21,389  -  
Allowance for accounts receivable 36,993  27,902   
Discount and allowance for contributions receivable (66,507)   8,163  
Change in inventory reserve 23,262  17,020   
Unrealized (gain) loss on investments (1,991,081)   (3,197,368)    
Realized (gain) loss on investments allocated

  to general and perpetual funds (181,161)    (100,738)  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable (153,792)    103,767    
Inventories (211,633)    (54,637)    
Contributions receivable 244,713   25,000   
Other receivables (17,849)   310,028    
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (1,419)  8,061  
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 171,881   (76,417)    
Deferred revenue 226,156   341,099    
Operating lease liabilities (53,621)   (53,241)    
Deferred life membership dues, net of allocated 

   realized gain (401,017)    (340,973)  
Deferred term membership dues (477,163)    (5,331)   

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 10,638  (219,844)  

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of equipment (136,767)    (445,144)  
Purchase of intangible assets (245,000)    -  
Sales of investments 7,921,115   6,759,149   
Purchases of investments (8,058,187)   (5,909,115)    

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (518,839)    404,890    

Cash flows from financing activities
Receipts to establish or increase perpetual endowment funds 146,987   63,608   

Net (decrease) increase in cash (361,214)    248,654    

Cash, beginning 1,606,539   1,357,885   

Cash, end 1,245,325$      1,606,539$     

Cash paid for amounts included in lease liabilities
Operating 54,734$     55,083$     
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The American Radio Relay League, Incorporated 

Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2024 and 2023 

Note 1 - Organization and summary of significant accounting policies 

Nature of activities 
The American Radio Relay League, Incorporated ("ARRL") is a not-for-profit organization formed to 
promote interest in amateur radio communication, experimentation and the advancement of radio art, 
further the public welfare and foster education in the field of electronic communication. ARRL also 
publishes documents, books, magazines and pamphlets necessary or incidental to its purpose. 
ARRL's operations are primarily supported by membership dues, publication sales, advertising and 
contributions. ARRL's members are primarily located throughout the United States. 

Basis of presentation 
The accompanying financial statements of ARRL have been prepared on the accrual basis of 
accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America ("GAAP"). ARRL reports information regarding its financial position and activities according 
to the following net asset categories: 

Net assets without donor restrictions 
Net assets without donor restrictions represent available resources other than donor-restricted 
contributions. Included in net assets without donor restrictions are funds that may be earmarked 
for specific purposes. 

Net assets with donor restrictions 
Net assets subject to donor- (or certain grantor-) imposed restrictions are temporary in nature, 
such as those that will be met by the passage of time or other events specified by the donor. 
Other donor-imposed restrictions are perpetual in nature, where the donor stipulates that 
resources be maintained in perpetuity. 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include all cash balances and highly-liquid short-term instruments with an 
original maturity of three months or less when acquired. Temporary cash and cash equivalent 
balances associated with investment accounts are included with investments in these financial 
statements. There were no cash equivalents as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 included in operating 
cash. 

Accounts receivable and allowance for credit losses 
ARRL sells its products to a broad range of customers. Customers typically are provided with payment 
terms of net 30 days. ARRL has tracked historical loss information for its trade receivables and 
compiled historical credit loss percentages for different aging categories (current, 1-30 days past due, 
31-60 days past due, 61-90 days past due, and more than 90 days past due).

Management believes that the historical loss information it has compiled is a reasonable base on 
which to determine expected credit losses for trade receivables held at December 31, 2024 because 
the composition of the trade receivables at that date is consistent with that used in developing the 
historical credit-loss percentages (i.e., the similar risk characteristics of its customers and its lending 
practices have not changed significantly over time). However, management has determined that the 
current and reasonable and supportable forecasted economic conditions have improved as compared 
with the economic conditions included in the historical information. Management developed this 
estimate based on its knowledge of past experience for which there were similar improvements in the 
economy. As a result, management applied the applicable updated credit loss rates to determine the 
expected credit loss estimate for each aging category. Accordingly, the allowance for expected credit 
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losses related to accounts receivable at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, totaled $66,015 
and $33,800. 

ARRL's allowance for credit losses represents its estimate of expected credit losses related to it trade 
receivables. To estimate its allowance for credit losses, ARRL leverages information on historical 
losses, asset- specific risk characteristics, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable 
forecasts of future conditions. 

Assets are written off when the ARRL determined that such financial assets are deemed uncollectible 
or based on regulatory requirements, whichever is earlier. Write-offs are recognized as a deduction 
from the allowance for credit losses. Expected recoveries of amounts previously written off, not to 
exceed the aggregate of the amount previously written off, are included in determining the necessary 
reserve at the statement of financial position date. 

Contributions receivable 
Contributions receivable are recorded at their net realizable value, which approximates fair value. 
Receivables that are expected to be collected in future years are discounted to their present values. 

Inventories 
Inventories consist of publications, software, membership supplies and other miscellaneous items. 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined by the first-in, first-out (FIFO) 
method. Inventories are reflected net of reserves for slow moving inventory of $130,135 and $106,873 
as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Investments 
ARRL reports investments at fair value (see Note 5) and reflects any gain or loss in the statements 
of activities. Investment income and gains and losses are considered to be without donor restriction 
unless restricted by donor stipulation or by operation of law. 

Land, building and equipment 
ARRL capitalizes expenditures for building and equipment with a useful life of greater than one year 
and a cost of $1,000 or more. Purchased land, building and equipment are carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the 
estimated useful life of the asset. Estimated lives for financial reporting purposes are as follows: 

Asset
Estimated useful 

lives

Building 40 years
Furnishings, equipment and building improvements 3 - 15 years
Computer software 3 - 5 years

Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred. For assets sold or 
otherwise disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts 
and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in change in net assets for the period. 

ARRL reviews its long-lived assets for impairment using an undiscounted cash flow method whenever 
events or circumstances indicate the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. There were 
no impairment losses related to long-lived assets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. 
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Intangible assets 
ARRL evaluates the recoverability of identifiable intangible assets whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that an intangible asset's carrying amount my not be recoverable. Such 
circumstances could include, but are not limited to, (1) a significant decrease in the market value of 
an asset, (2) a significant adverse change in the extent or manner in which an asset is used, or (3) 
an accumulation of costs significantly in excess of the amount originally expected for the acquisition 
of an asset. ARRL measures the carrying amount of the asset against the estimates undiscounted 
future cash flows associated with it. Should the sum of the expected future net cash flows be less 
than the carrying value of the asset being evaluated, an impairment would be recognized. The 
impairment loss would be calculated as the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds 
its fair value. The fair value is measured based on quoted market prices, if available. If quoted market 
prices are not available, the estimate of fair value is based on various valuation techniques, including 
the discounted value of estimate future cash flows. The evaluation of asset impairment requires ARRL 
to make assumptions about future cash flows over the life of the asset being evaluated. These 
assumptions require significant judgment, and actual results may differ from assumed and estimated 
amounts. During the year ended December 31, 2024, ARRL did not recognize any impairment losses 
related to intangible assets. 

Endowment and spending policy 
ARRL adheres to investment and spending policies for endowment assets that attempt to provide a 
predictable stream of funding to programs supported by its endowment while seeking to maintain the 
purchasing power of the endowment assets. Endowment assets include those assets of donor-
restricted funds that ARRL must hold in perpetuity as well as board-designated funds. Under this 
policy, as approved by the Board of Directors, the endowment assets are invested in accordance with 
sound investment practices that emphasize long-term investment fundamentals. It is recognized that 
short-term market fluctuations may cause variations in account performance and investment 
balances. 

To satisfy its long-term rate of return objectives, ARRL relies on a total return strategy in which 
investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) and 
current yield (interest and dividends). ARRL targets a diversified asset allocation to achieve its long-
term return objectives within prudent risk constraints. 

ARRL appropriates funds for distribution based on an annual review of investment results and 
available net assets. ARRL's objective is to maintain the purchasing power of the endowment assets 
held in perpetuity or for a specified term as well as to provide additional real growth through new gifts 
and investment return. 

Revenue recognition 
Revenue is recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to ARRL's 
customers (participants and members), in an amount that reflects the consideration expected to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. 

Membership dues - Revenue from term membership dues is recognized to the extent of acquisition 
costs when memberships are received. The remaining portion is recognized as revenue on the 
straight-line basis ratably over the applicable membership period. 
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The by-laws of ARRL provide for a life membership dues rate that provides a revenue neutral draw 
at the current term dues rate. Life member dues are deferred upon receipt. Investment earnings on 
allocated life member investments are deferred. Revenue is recognized at an amount representative 
of the estimated cost to ARRL for providing services to the life members. 

Publication sales - Revenue from publication sales is recognized when the earnings process is 
complete and the risks and rewards of ownership have transferred to the customer, which is generally 
considered to have occurred upon shipment of the publication. 

Advertising - Advertising revenue is recorded during the period in which the advertisements are 
published. 

Contributions and bequests - Transactions where the resource provider often receive value indirectly 
by providing a societal benefit, although the societal benefit is not considered to be of commensurate 
value, are deemed to be contributions. Contributions are classified as either conditional or 
unconditional. A conditional contribution is a transaction where ARRL has to overcome a barrier or 
hurdle to be entitled to the resource and the resource provider is released from the obligation to fund 
or has the right of return of any advanced funding if ARRL fails to overcome the barrier. ARRL 
recognizes the contribution revenue upon overcoming the barrier or hurdle. Any funding received 
prior to overcoming the barrier is recognized as refundable advance. Unconditional contributions are 
recognized as revenue and receivable when the commitment to contribute is received. 

Unconditional contributions are recorded as either with donor restriction or without donor restriction. 
Contributions are recognized as contributions with donor restrictions if they are received with donor 
stipulations that limit the use of the donated asset. Contributions received with no donor stipulations 
are recorded as contributions without donor restrictions. When a donor restriction expires, that is, 
when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, net assets with donor 
restrictions are reclassified as net assets without donor restrictions and are reported in the statements 
of activities and changes in net assets as net assets released from restriction. Donor-restricted 
contributions whose restrictions expire during the same fiscal year are recognized as contribution 
without donor restrictions. 

Examination fees and other & Program and services fees - Revenue from examination fees, other 
fees, program fees, and service fees generally relate to programs and on site or remotely proctored 
examinations to obtain certification from ARRL. These fees are recognized when the earnings 
process is complete, which is generally considered to be when the event / examination has occurred. 

Income taxes 
ARRL is exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. 
However, ARRL is subject to federal and state income tax as a result of unrelated business income 
arising from net advertising income. There are no unrelated business income tax liabilities for the 
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. 

ARRL's federal information returns prior to calendar year 2021 are closed and management 
continually evaluates expiring statutes of limitations, audits, proposed settlements, changes in tax law 
and new authoritative rulings. ARRL recognizes interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax 
positions as part of the income tax provision and includes accrued interest and penalties with the 
related tax liability in the statements of financial position. Management has analyzed the tax positions 
taken by ARRL and has concluded that, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, there are no uncertain 
tax positions taken or expected to be taken that would require recognition of a liability (or asset) or 
disclosure in the financial statements. 
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Functional expenses 
The financial statements report certain categories of expenses that are attributed to more than one 
program or supporting function. Therefore, expenses require allocation on a reasonable basis that is 
consistently applied. The expenses that are allocated include occupancy, which is allocated on a 
square footage basis, as well as salaries and wages, benefits, payroll taxes, professional services, 
office expenses, information technology, interest, insurance, and other, which are allocated on the 
basis of estimates of time, effort, and utilization. 

Use of estimates 
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual 
results could differ from those estimates. 

Subsequent events 
ARRL has evaluated events and transactions for potential recognition or disclosure through October 
30, 2025, which is the date the financial statements were available to be issued. 

Note 2 - Liquidity 

ARRL regularly monitors liquidity required to meet its annual operating needs and other contractual 
commitments while also striving to maximize the return on investment of its funds not required for 
annual operations. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, ARRL has the following financial assets 
available to meet annual operating needs for the subsequent calendar year: 

2024 2023

Cash 1,245,325$        1,606,539$        
Accounts receivable, net 339,406             222,607    
Investments available for operations 1,726,795          1,660,865          
Other receivable 91,509 73,660      

Total 3,403,035$        3,563,671$        

These financial assets are not subject to any donor or contractual restrictions. 

ARRL supports its general operations primarily with membership dues, advertising, publications and 
program fees, as well as contributions without donor restrictions and donor restricted funds whose 
time or purpose restriction has been met. In addition, the Board may appropriate a portion of the 
earnings as needed from ARRL's donor-restricted endowment as described in Note 10. 

The ARRL Investment Policy Statement requires the investment portfolio to maintain liquid 
instruments within its portfolio to ensure assets are available to meet general expenditures, liabilities 
and other obligations as they come due. For budgeting purposes, the investment manager assumes 
annual withdrawals from the portfolio of 3% of the rolling average of the prior eight quarters ending 
market values of the invest portfolio. The estimate of this amount is approximately $1 million as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023. ARRL's administration and finance committee in conjunction with the 
investment management committee reviews investment performance and considers near-term 
liquidity needs on a quarterly basis. 
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The Board may also appropriate amounts currently reported as board designated to be available as 
needed. In line with ARRL's established policy, the Board designates bequests without donor 
restriction over $50,000 to the board-designated endowment. 

Note 3 - Contributions receivable 

Unconditional contributions receivable to be collected as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, are 
expected to be realized in the following periods: 

2024 2023

In one year or less
In one to five years 80,000 120,000    
In more than five years 160,000             210,000    

Total contributions receivable 265,000             509,713    

Less allowance for uncollectible contributions receivable (16,752)             (36,552)    
Less discount (97,483)             (144,190)  

Total

25,000$             179,713$           

150,765$           328,971$           

Amounts are shown in the statements of financial position as of December 31 as follows: 

2024 2023

Current
Long-term              125,765     149,258 

Total

 $            25,000  $          179,713 

 $          150,765  $          328,971 

Contributions receivable expected to be received in more than one year have been discounted using 
a discount rate of 7.5% and 8.5% at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Note 4 - Investments 

Investments are carried at their aggregate fair value. The following summarizes the relationship 
between the cost and fair values as presented in the financial statements as of December 31, 2024 
and 2023: 

Fair value Cost Fair value Cost

Cash and cash equivalents 576,873$     576,873$     299,883$     299,883$     
Equities and mutual funds 37,939,863   33,617,318  35,382,728  33,051,324  
Fixed maturities 3,830   3,841  3,906  3,857    

Total 38,520,566$      34,198,032$   35,686,517$   33,355,064$   

20232024
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ARRL allocates its investments into categories related to life memberships, regular operations, donor 
restricted and endowment funds. The following summarizes the fair value of investments by category 
as of December 31, 2024 and 2023: 

2024 2023

Life membership 9,793,710$        9,669,992$        
Regular operations 10,381,447        8,565,307          
Donor restricted for time and purpose 3,528,954          3,133,865          
Functioning as an endowment 9,784,616          9,274,293          
Donor restricted in perpetuity 5,031,839          5,043,060          

Total 38,520,566$      35,686,517$      

The following summarizes changes in relationships between cost and fair values of investments: 

2024 2023

Unrealized appreciation, beginning 
   Fair value 35,686,517$      32,899,592$      
   Cost 33,355,064        33,765,507        

Net gain (loss) 2,331,453          (865,915)  

Unrealized appreciation, end 
   Fair value 38,520,566        35,686,517        
   Cost 34,198,032        33,355,064        

Net gain 4,322,534          2,331,453          

Net unrealized gain for the year 1,991,081$        3,197,368$        

Investment income is summarized as follows for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023: 

2024 2023

Interest and dividend income 1,268,980$        1,044,900$        
Net realized gain on investments 580,403             184,526    

Gross investment income 1,849,383          1,229,426          

Less

Net investment income allocated to deferred life 
liability (524,735)           (338,853)  

Total investment income 1,324,648$        890,573$           
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Note 5 - Fair value measurements 

ARRL values its financial assets and liabilities based on the price that would be received to sell an 
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. In order to increase consistency and comparability in fair value measurements, 
a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes observable and unobservable inputs is used to measure fair 
value into three broad levels, which are described below: 

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at the measurement 
date for identical assets or liabilities. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority 
to Level 1 inputs. 

Level 2: Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets 
or liabilities; quoted prices in inactive markets or model-derived valuations in which all 
significant inputs are observable or can be derived principally from or corroborated 
with observable market data by correlation or other means. If an asset or liability has 
a specified (contractual) term, the Level 2 input must be observable for substantially 
the full term of the asset or liability. 

Level 3: Unobservable inputs are used when little or no market data is available. The fair value 
hierarchy gives the lowest priority to Level 3 inputs. 

In determining fair value, ARRL utilizes valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable 
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible as well as considers 
counterparty credit risk in its assessment of fair value. 
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Financial assets carried at fair value at December 31, 2024 and 2023, are classified in the tables 
below in one of the three categories described above: 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Money market fund 576,873$           -$   -$ 576,873$       

Mutual funds
 Large blend fund 8,075,363   -        -  8,075,363   
 Large growth fund 2,016,157   -        -  2,016,157   
 Foreign large growth fund 4,774,235   -        -  4,774,235   
 Intermediate core plus bond 5,744,549   -        -  5,744,549   
 Intermediate core bond 2,472,986   -        -  2,472,986   
 Multisector bond 1,312,325   -        -  1,312,325   
 Foreign large value 1,663,090   -        -  1,663,090   
 Large value 1,729,634   -        -  1,729,634   
 Small value 1,623,245   -        -  1,623,245   
 Other mutual funds 31,049        -        -  31,049        

Total mutual funds 29,442,633        -        -  29,442,633        

Exchange traded funds
 Foreign large blend fund 3,191  -        -  3,191  

   Large value 4,840,510   -        -  4,840,510   
Small value 568,975      -        -  568,975      

 Long government 3,064,348   -        -  3,064,348   

Total exchange traded funds 8,477,024   -        -  8,477,024   

Stocks
 Domestic large cap 20,206        -        -  20,206        

Fixed maturities
 Domestic corporate bonds - 3,830 - 3,830 

Total assets at fair value 38,516,736$      3,830$        -$        38,520,566$      

2024



56

The American Radio Relay League, Incorporated 

Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2024 and 2023 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Money market fund 299,883$           -$   -$ 299,883$       

Mutual funds
 Large blend fund 6,651,451   -        -  6,651,451   
 Large growth fund 1,145,728   -        -  1,145,728   
 Foreign large growth fund 4,492,334   -        -  4,492,334   
 Intermediate core plus bond 5,350,087   -        -  5,350,087   
 Intermediate core bond 2,153,561   -        -  2,153,561   
 Multisector bond 1,225,058   -        -  1,225,058   
 Foreign large value 1,676,714   -        -  1,676,714   
 Natural resources 904,532      -        -  904,532      
 Large value 1,010,439   -        -  1,010,439   
 Small value 2,121,480   -        -  2,121,480   
 Short-term bond 975,560      -        -  975,560      
 Other mutual funds 28,577        -        -  28,577        

Total mutual funds 27,735,521        -        -  27,735,521        

Exchange traded funds
 Large blend fund 1,064,329   -        -  1,064,329   
 Foreign large blend fund 22,605        -        -  22,605        
 Large value 1,583,056   -        -  1,583,056   
 Technology 555,305      -        -  555,305      
 Short government 818,185      -        -  818,185      
 Long government 2,432,884   -        -  2,432,884   
 Ultrashort bond 770,144      -        -  770,144      

Total exchange traded funds 7,246,508   -        -  7,246,508   

Stocks
 Domestic large cap 400,699      -        -  400,699      

Fixed maturities
 Domestic corporate bonds - 3,906 - 3,906 

Total assets at fair value 35,682,611$      3,906$        -$        35,686,517$      

2023

Level 1 stocks, mutual funds, exchange traded funds, and money market funds are valued at the daily 
closing price as reported by the fund. Mutual funds held are open-ended funds that are registered 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission and are valued at the daily closing price as reported 
by the fund. These funds are required to publish their daily net asset value and to transact at that 
price. These financial assets held by ARRL are deemed to be actively traded. 

The fair value of fixed maturities (Level 2), which consists principally of corporate and domestic bonds, 
is estimated using market price quotations (where observable), recently executed transactions or 
bond spreads of the issuer. If the spread data does not reference the issuer, then data that references 
a comparable issuer is used. When observable price quotations are not available, fair value is 
determined based on cash flow models with yield curves or bond spreads. 

The preceding is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets at fair value. There 
have been no changes in the methodology used at December 31, 2024 and 2023. 
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ARRL's policy is to recognize transfers in and transfers out of levels at the actual date of the event or 
change in circumstances that caused the transfer. There were no transfers in or out of the respective 
levels during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. 

The preceding methods may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net 
realizable value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, although ARRL believes its valuation 
methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different 
methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result 
in a different fair value measurement at the reporting date. 

Note 6 - Land, building and equipment 

Land, building and equipment, and related accumulated depreciation are comprised of the following 
at December 31, 2024 and 2023: 

2024 2023

Land and building 1,094,693$        1,094,693$        
Furnishings, equipment and building improvements 5,242,706          5,238,209          
Computer software 3,182,356          3,182,356          

9,519,755          9,515,258          
Less accumulated depreciation (7,712,144)        (7,430,466)        

1,807,611          2,084,792          
Construction in progress 7,875 -           

Total 1,815,486$        2,084,792$        

Note 7 - Intangible assets 

Goodwill 
In 2024, ARRL adopted the accounting alternatives for amortizing goodwill and for goodwill 
impairment triggering event evaluation available to private companies and not-for-profit entities under 
FASB ASC Subtopic 350-20. Accordingly, ARRL began amortizing goodwill prospectively as of 
January 11, 2024, on a straight-line basis over 10 years. ARRL performs a goodwill impairment 
triggering event evaluation at the entity level as of the end of each reporting period. When a triggering 
event occurs, ARRL first assesses qualitative factors to determine whether the quantitative 
impairment test is necessary. If that qualitative assessment indicates that it is more likely than not 
that goodwill is impaired, ARRL performs the quantitative test to compare the entity's fair value with 
its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the qualitative assessment indicates that it is not more likely 
than not that goodwill is impaired, further testing is unnecessary. The goodwill impairment loss, if any, 
represents the excess of the carrying amount of the entity over its fair value. 

No triggering events occurred as of December 31, 2024 that required goodwill impairment testing and 
accordingly, no impairment loss was recorded in 2024. 
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At December 31, 2024, goodwill recorded on the balance sheet consists of the following: 

Goodwill 150,000$           
Less: accumulated amortization (13,750)             

Goodwill, net 136,250$           

Amortization of goodwill amounted to $13,750 in 2024. Amortization of goodwill is expected to be 
$15,000 annually for each of the five succeeding years. 

Trademarks 
Trademarks are initially measured based on their fair values of $80,000. Trademarks are being 
amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of 15 years and are stated at cost net of accumulated 
amortization of $4,889 and $0 at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Amortization expense 
charged to operating expenses was $4,889 for 2024 and $0 for 2023. 

Non-Compete Agreements 
Non-compete agreement amounts (net) of $12,250 at December 31, 2024 represents the portion of 
the purchase price associated with 2024 acquisitions allocated to noncompetition agreements. Under 
these agreements, the former owners agreed not to complete with ARRL for a period of five years. 
The related cost is being amortized on the straight-line method over the terms of the agreements. 
Accumulated amortization related to the noncomplete agreement totaled $2,750 and $0 at December 
31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Amortization expense charged to operating expenses was $2,750 
for 2024 and $0 for 2023. 

Note 8 - Leases 

ARRL leases warehouse space and office equipment. All contracts that implicitly or explicitly involve 
land, building and equipment are evaluated to determine whether they are or contain a lease. 

At lease commencement, ARRL recognizes a lease liability, which is measured at the present value 
of future lease payments, and a corresponding right-of-use asset equal to the lease liability, adjusted 
for prepaid lease costs, initial direct costs and lease incentives. ARRL has elected and applies the 
practical expedient available to lessees to combine nonlease components with their related lease 
components and account for them as a single combined lease component for all its leases. ARRL 
remeasures lease liabilities and related right-of-use assets whenever there is a change to the lease 
term and/or there is a change in the amount of future lease payments, but only when such modification 
does not qualify to be accounted for as a separate contract. 

ARRL determines an appropriate discount rate to apply when determining the present value of the 
remaining lease payments for purposes of measuring or remeasuring lease liabilities. As the rate 
implicit in the lease is generally not readily determinable, ARRL uses a risk-free rate as the discount 
rate at either lease commencement or when a lease liability is remeasured. 

For accounting purposes, ARRL's leases commence on the earlier of (i) the date upon which ARRL 
obtains control of the underlying asset and (ii) the contractual effective date of a lease. Lease 
commencement for most of ARRL's leases coincides with the contractual effective date. ARRL's 
leases generally have minimum base terms with renewal options or fixed terms with early termination 
options. Such renewal and early termination options are exercisable at the option of ARRL and, when 
exercised, usually provide for rental payments during the extension period at then current market 
rates or at pre-determined rental amounts. Unless ARRL determines that it is reasonably certain that 
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the term of a lease will be extended, such as through the exercise of a renewal option or nonexercise 
of an early termination option, the term of a lease begins at lease commencement and spans for the 
duration of the minimum noncancellable contractual term. When the exercise of a renewal option or 
nonexercise of an early termination option is reasonably certain, the lease term is measured as 
ending at the end of the renewal period or on the date an early termination may be exercised. 

Leases involving real estate 
The lease of ARRL's warehouse has a lease term of five years and has been incorporated into the 
measurement of the related right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities. Although most of 
ARRL's real estate leases include one or more options to renew that can extend the contractual terms 
from five to ten years, those renewal options are exercisable solely at ARRL's discretion and have 
been excluded from lease term measurements. Rental payments on these leases are fixed payments 
of $4,265 per month. 

Leases involving equipment 
Equipment operating leases have lease terms that range from 36 to 63 months and do not have 
renewal options. Rental payments on these leases are fixed payments and range from $58 to $297 
per month. 

The components of all operating lease rental costs for the each of the years ended December 31, 
2024 and 2023 was $54,734 and $55,083, respectively. 

Weighted average remaining lease term and weighted average discount rate for ARRL's leases as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023: 

2024 2023

Weighted average remaining lease term in years 1.44 1.78          
Weighted average discount rate 1.37% 1.37%

Annual maturity analysis of ARRL's lease liabilities as of December 31, 2024 are as follows: 

Year Ending December 31,
2025 54,734$             
2026 23,697 

Total future payments 78,431 
Less: imputed interest (810) 

Present value of operating lease liabilities 77,621 
Less: current portion of operating lease liabilities 53,621 

Noncurrent portion of operating lease liabilities 24,000$             
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Note 9 - 403(b) plan 

ARRL has the ARRL, Inc. 403(b) Pension Plan. Employees are eligible to participate in the plan 
immediately upon employment. After an employee has worked for six months, ARRL provides a 
contribution of 2% of the employee's compensation and will match any elective contributions made 
by the employee up to the employee's contribution of 4% of their compensation. The match was one 
dollar for every dollar contributed by the employee in 2024 and 2023. Total employer contributions 
were $285,684 and $289,406 in 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Note 10 - Board-designated net assets 

ARRL's Board of Directors' intent is to treat bequests without donor restrictions over a specific amount 
as funds functioning as an endowment. Since the beginning of 2004, ARRL has received bequests 
in the amount of $8,770,240. Earnings on board-designated assets are used for operations annually. 
As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the balance of the bequests, inclusive of unrealized gains and 
losses, was $9,784,616 and $9,274,293, respectively. 

Note 11 - Net assets with donor restrictions 

Net assets with donor restrictions as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, were available for the following 
purposes: 

2024 2023

Funds restricted for time or purpose
   Exceptional merit 1,325,026$        1,255,068$        
   Other specific purposes 1,393,232          1,069,436          
   Education and research 810,696             809,361    

Total funds restricted for time or purpose 3,528,954          3,133,865          

Funds restricted in perpetuity
   Second Century fund 3,008,799          3,164,231          
   W1AW fund 741,076             737,046    
   DX Log Archive fund 229,390             229,390    
   Youth and Education fund 353,189             333,189    
   Colvin fund 154,340             154,340    
   Dave Bell, W6AQ fund 134,864             134,864    
   Snyder Collegiate fund 250,000             250,000    
   Amateur Radio Innovation Awards Fund 40,000 40,000      

Teachers Insitute Endowment 120,181             -           

Total funds restricted in perpetuity 5,031,839          5,043,060          

Total donor restricted net assets 8,560,793$        8,176,925$        

In 1993, ARRL became entitled, as beneficiary, to proceeds from a life insurance policy on one of its 
members, the Colvin fund. This endowment specifies that the principal is to be maintained in a fund 
and invested for the purpose of producing future income. The income from this endowment will be 
expended to reward deserving radio amateurs. 
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In 2002, an endowment fund was established for W1AW maintenance and upkeep. 

In 2011, ARRL started the Second Century Campaign. The principal funds are to be maintained and 
invested for the purpose of producing income for operations to be used annually. The income from 
the endowment will support creating a path to passionate involvement in amateur radio by new 
generations, and will thereby provide opportunities for educational enrichments, community service 
and personal achievement. 

In 2012, ARRL became entitled to a bequest for the Youth and Education fund. This endowment 
specifies that the principal is to be maintained in a fund and invested for the purpose of producing 
future income. The income from this endowment will be used to support education and technology 
initiatives. 

In 2014, ARRL received a donation to establish the DX Log Archive fund. This endowment specifies 
that the principal is to be maintained in a fund and invested for the purpose of producing future 
income. The income will fund the creation and management of the DX Log Archive Program for paper 
DX logs for rare and significant DX petitions. 

In 2015, ARRL became entitled to a bequest to establish the Dave Bell, W6AQ fund. This fund 
specifies that the principal is to be maintained in a fund and invested for the purpose producing 
income for operations to be used annually. The income from this endowment will be used for ARRL's 
programs and operations in the best interests of the Amateur Radio Service as determined by ARRL. 

In 2017, ARRL received a donation to establish the W1YSM Snyder Family Collegiate Amateur Radio 
Endowment fund. This endowment specifies that the principal is to be maintained in a fund and 
invested for the purpose of producing future income. In 2022, ARRL received an additional donation 
to expand the fund to the W1YSM Snyder Family Collegiate & ARRL-Affiliate Club Endowment fund. 
The income from this endowment will be used to support ARRL's Collegiate Amateur Radio Initiative 
activities and/or programs specific to ARRL-Affiliated Club support. 

In 2023, ARRL received a donation to establish the American Radio Innovation Awards Endowment 
fund. This endowment specifies that the principal is to be maintained in a fund and invested for the 
purpose of producing future income. The income from this endowment will be used to support ARRL's 
Innovation Awards activities. 

In 2024, ARRL received a donation to establish the Teachers Institute Endowment. This endowment 
specifies that the principal and income is to be used to continue and expand the Teachers Institute. 

Note 12 - Endowment 

ARRL's endowment includes both donor-restricted endowment funds and funds designated by the 
Board of Directors to function as endowments. The donor-restricted funds include the corpus 
restricted in perpetuity and the net appreciation of the fund. Funds designated by the Board of 
Directors as restricted to purpose or time are also included in the Organization's endowment and are 
reported as net assets without donor restrictions. The Board of Directors has interpreted the 
Connecticut Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act ("CTUPMIFA") as requiring the 
preservation of the fair value of the original gift as of the gift date of the donor-restricted endowment 
funds absent explicit donor stipulations to the contrary. As a result of this interpretation, ARRL retains 
in perpetuity (a) the original value of the initial and subsequent gift amounts (including contributions 
receivable net of discount and allowance for doubtful accounts donated to the Endowment and (b) 
any accumulations to the endowment made in accordance with the direction of the applicable donor 
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gift instrument at the time the accumulation is added. Donor-restricted amounts not retained in 
perpetuity are subject to appropriation for expenditure by use in a manner consistent with the standard 
of prudence prescribed by CTUPMIFA. 

In accordance with CTUPMIFA, ARRL considers the following factors in making a determination to 
appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds: (1) the duration and preservation of 
the various funds, (2) the purposes of ARRL and donor-restricted endowment funds, (3) general 
economic conditions, (4) the possible effect of inflation and deflation, (5) the expected total return 
from income and the appreciation of investments, (6) other resources of ARRL and (7) ARRL's 
investment policies. 

Changes in endowment net assets for the year ended December 31, 2024, are as follows: 

Total

Endowment net assets,
January 1, 2024 9,274,293$        5,310,306$        14,584,599$      

 Investment income, net 980,043             243,212             1,223,255          

 Net unrealized gain 453,323             271,820             725,143             

 Contributions 57,000 146,987             203,987             

Amounts appropriated
 for expenditure (980,043)           (1,331,252)        

Endowment net assets,
December 31, 2024 9,784,616$        5,621,116$        15,405,732$      

With donor 
restrictions

Without donor 
restrictions

(351,209)           

Endowment net asset composition by type of fund as of December 31, 2024, is as follows: 

Total

-$ 5,621,116$        5,621,116$        

Board-designated endowment funds 9,784,616          - 9,784,616 

Total funds 9,784,616$        5,621,116$        15,405,732$      

With donor 
restrictions

Without donor 
restrictions

Donor-restricted endowment funds
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Changes in endowment net assets for the year ended December 31, 2023, are as follows: 

Total
Endowment net assets,
January 1, 2023 7,948,356$        4,940,638$        12,888,994$      

 Investment income, net 647,100             156,032             803,132             

 Net unrealized gain 780,685             444,248             1,224,933          

 Contributions 545,252             68,592 613,844             

Amounts appropriated
 for expenditure (647,100)           (299,204)           (946,304)           

Endowment net assets,
December 31, 2023 9,274,293$        5,310,306$        14,584,599$      

With donor 
restrictions

Without donor 
restrictions

Endowment net asset composition by type of fund as of December 31, 2023, is as follows: 

Total

-$ 5,310,306$        5,310,306$        

9,274,293          - 9,274,293 

Total funds 9,274,293$        5,310,306$        14,584,599$      

With donor 
restrictions

Without donor 
restrictions

Donor-restricted endowment funds

Board-designated endowment funds

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment 
funds may fall below the level that the donor requires ARRL to retain as a fund of perpetual duration. 
ARRL may spend from underwater endowments. If the endowment agreement specifically prohibits 
distributions for any reason, including underwater situations, the endowment agreement shall prevail 
and the distributions will be eliminated or reduced in accordance with donor intent. 

Due to a decline in investment earnings, the fair values of some of the endowments dropped below 
their historic gift value. The aggregate underwater funds as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 are as 
follows: 

Number of funds 
underwater Fair value Original gift

Amount of 
deficiencies

2024 0 -$                  -$                  -$  
2023 3 3,562,215$        3,632,283$        (70,068)$           
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Note 13 - Concentrations 

Credit risk 
Financial instruments, which potentially subject ARRL to concentrations of credit risk, consist 
primarily of cash, pledges and trade receivables. ARRL maintains its cash with high-credit quality 
financial institutions. At times, such amounts may exceed the federally insured limit. At December 31, 
2024, ARRL had approximately $804,000 in excess of federally insured limits. 

Market risk 
ARRL invests in various debt and equity securities. These investment securities are exposed to 
interest rate, market, credit and other risks depending on the nature of the specific investment. 
Accordingly, it is at least reasonably possible that these factors will result in changes in the value of 
ARRL's investments which could materially affect amounts reported in the financial statements. 

Note 14 - Related party transactions 

ARRL has some common directors with The ARRL Foundation, Inc. ARRL performs administrative 
services for The ARRL Foundation, Inc. and was reimbursed for these services in the amount of 
$25,000 and $20,000 for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Note 15 - Cyber incident 

During 2024, ARRL experienced unauthorized access to certain systems which resulted in a cyber 
security incident and a ransomware attack. Management's investigation of the cyber security incident 
is complete. The investigation included hiring a 3rd party IT investigation firm, retaining legal counsel 
specializing in cyber incidents, and filing an insurance claim. Membership data was not accessed nor 
encrypted as part of the incident. ARRL has restored systems and improved their cyber security 
measures. 

Costs incurred related to this event as of December 31, 2024 amounted to approximately $85,300 
and these costs are included in other expenses line in the accompanying statement of functional 
expenses. 
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